RECEIVED

04-03-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 2** Appeal No. 2013 AP 2559 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAVID M. CARLSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON REVIEW OF A DENIAL OF A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED ON OCTOBER 28, 2013, AND A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED MAY 16, 2012, AND AMENDED ON OCTOBER 10, 2013, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR OZAUKEE COUNTY, HON. SANDY A. WILLIAMS PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Gregory W. Wiercioch State Bar No. 1091075 John Arnold Law Student Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED:

1. Carlson's attorney advised him that if he pled guilty to sexually assaulting AJK, he had a realistic possibility of receiving a communitybased sentence (*i.e.*, probation or a combination of jail and probation.) Carlson alleged in a postconviction motion that his attorney's advice constituted ineffective assistance of counsel, given the seriousness of the charges, the fact that he could be blamed for 300-400 assaults, and objective evidence that few defendants facing similar charges received a community-based sentence.

Issue: Did the Circuit Court err in denying, without a hearing, Carlson's postconviction claim?

The Court ruled, without a hearing, that counsel's performance was not deficient.

2. Did the Circuit Court err in denying, without a hearing, Carlson's claim that counsel was ineffective at sentencing for failing to object to the Court's statement that Carlson sexually assaulted AJK 300-400 times, or failing to present evidence that Carlson was not with AJK for much of the time, and therefore could not have sexually assaulted her that many times?

The Court found that counsel was not ineffective.

3. Did the Circuit Court err in denying, without a hearing, Carlson's claim that the sentencing court based its sentence on inaccurate information, namely, that it based its sentence on its belief that Carlson sexually assaulted AJK 300-400 times?

The Court found that its sentence was not based on inaccurate information. 4. Did the Circuit Court err in denying Carlson's claim that his sentence was harsh or unconscionable?

The Court ruled that the sentence was neither harsh nor unconscionable (87:31-32).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Carlson welcomes oral argument to clarify any questions the Court may have. He does not request publication, as he believes that this case may be decided on existing law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 2011, AJK was a 22 year-old woman who was living with her mother and her siblings at the family home in Cedarburg, Wisconsin (1:1-2; 35:8). Also living in the home was the defendant, David Carlson, who was the long-time fiancé of AJK's mother, and who had lived with the family for the past twelve years (1:1-3; 35:5).

On May 31, 2011, AJK and Carlson got into a fight, which escalated until AJK yelled that Carlson had molested her years earlier (35:8-9). The next day, AJK reported to law enforcement that Carlson had molested her over a five-year period beginning in 5th grade and lasting until 9th grade (1:1). AJK told police that the last incident occurred over seven years earlier while they lived in Cedarburg, and that all other incidents occurred in the years before that, when they lived in Washington County (1:1).

On June 3, 2011, the State filed a criminal complaint in Ozaukee County for the single Cedarburg allegation, charging Carlson with Second Degree Sexual Assault of a Child which occurred between November 1, 2003 and January 15, 2004 (1:1). Although the complaint did not formally charge Carlson with any sexual assaults from Washington County, the probable cause statement indicated that he had repeatedly committed sexual acts upon AJK, beginning when she was in the fifth grade (1:2). According to AJK, these acts occurred "at least twice a week" but ended by January of 2004, when AJK was in the ninth grade (1:1).

After the Ozaukee County complaint was filed, Carlson sought sex offender treatment, and began counseling with Brandie Tetzlaff at Pathways Counseling Center on August 3, 2011 (35:14). Tetzlaff viewed Carlson as an "active and engaged" participant in therapy, and noted that Carlson had participated in both group and individual counseling sessions weekly (35:14).

On August 4, 2011, two months after the Ozaukee County complaint was issued, the State filed a criminal complaint in Washington County, which was later consolidated with the Ozaukee County case (77:2-3). After several amendments, the final information charged Carlson with the following two counts:

Count 1: Sexual Assault of a Child under 16 years of age, occurring between November 1, 2003 and January 15, 2004, contrary Wis. Stats. § 948.02(2), 939.50(3)(c).

Count 2: Repeated Sexual Assault of the Same Child during the period between Spring 2000 and May 2003, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 948.025(1) and 939.50(3)(b).

(30:1).

On March 22, 2012, Carlson pled guilty to both counts (86:20). At the plea hearing, Carlson's trial attorney, Craig Mastantuono, stated that while Carlson was admitting to a factual basis for three or more assaults for the Repeated Sexual Assault of the Same Child charge, and the factual basis for the one assault for the Sexual Assault of a Child charge, "there may be a wider scope and range of activity alleged by the State than is admitted to by Mr. Carlson" (86:5-6).

Prior to sentencing, a Presentence Investigation Report (PSI) was completed, in which Carlson admitted to only five or six assaults (35:4). The PSI author recommended that the Court impose terms totaling 12-14 years prison (9-10 years initial confinement plus 3-4 years extended supervision) (35:18).

Carlson was sentenced on May 14, 2012 (74:1-2). At the sentencing hearing, Dr. Michael Woody, a clinical psychologist, testified that he gave Carlson a psychological evaluation, which found that he posed a low risk of reoffending and that there was a likelihood of positive adjustment with community supervision (74:36-37, 35:13). One factor noted by Dr. Woody was that Carlson ceased abusing AJK voluntarily while still having access to her (74:39). Dr. Woody identified the lack of abuse during the "substantial period of victim access" since the last incident (approximately eight years before the time he wrote his report) as evidence that Carlson did not appear to be "a substantial risk to the community" (35:13).

At the sentencing hearing, the Court stated that it would address several factors in determining Carlson's sentence, including the seriousness of the conduct (74:75), the fact that the Court gave credit to Carlson for pleading guilty (74:77), and the need to protect the community (74:82). Among these statements, the Court said that Carlson had abused AJK "anywhere from 300 to 400 times." (74:77). The Court stated that it based this calculation on the fact that AJK said that the abuse occurred "at least twice a week," for three years with "two weeks off" (74:77). This 300 to 400 figure had not been mentioned at any point by either party prior to this statement. Carlson's attorney did not object to the 300-400 figure, or introduce any evidence to refute it.

The Court then sentenced Carlson to consecutive terms of 23 years (15 years initial confinement plus 8 years extended supervision) (Attached as Appendix A).

Carlson subsequently filed a motion for postconviction relief on August 23, 2013 (62:25). The motion asserted that Carlson was entitled to withdraw his plea, and/or be resentenced, based on the following claims:¹

- That Carlson is entitled to withdraw his plea because his attorney was ineffective in advising him that if he pled guilty, he had a reasonable chance to receive a community-based sentence (*i.e.*, probation or a combination of probation and jail). (62:4-13).
- That trial counsel was ineffective at sentencing for failing to object to or refute the Court's statement that Carlson had assaulted AJK 300-400 times (62:21-23).
- That the Circuit Court relied on inaccurate information at sentencing, specifically, the allegation that Carlson had assaulted AJK 300-400 times (62:18-20).
- That the sentence was unduly harsh or unconscionable (62:23).

On October 24, 2013, the Court conducted a non-evidentiary hearing on the postconviction motion to determine whether Carlson was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the allegations (87:1-4, 17-23). The Court denied each of Carlson's claims, finding that the postconviction motion lacked "sufficient material facts that, if proven, would generate any kind of relief." (87:21, 23, 31-32) (Order Denying Postconviction Motion is attached as Appendix B and Oct. 24, 2013 Oral Ruling Court is attached as Appendix C).

¹ The postconviction motion also made other claims that are not raised in this appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court erred in denying, without a hearing, Carlson's claim that his attorney was ineffective for advising that he had a realistic possibility of receiving a community-based sentence if he pled guilty.

A. Legal Standards

The circuit court must hold an evidentiary hearing when the defendant has made a legally sufficient postconviction motion. *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 9, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. A postconviction motion is legally sufficient when the motion on its face alleges sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief. *Id*.

Whether a postconviction motion on its face alleges sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief is a question of law that is reviewed *de novo*. *Id*. However, if the defendant fails to allege sufficient facts to raise a question of fact, or presents only conclusory allegations, or if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief, the trial court may in the exercise of its legal discretion deny the motion without an evidentiary hearing. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 309-310, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). These discretionary decisions by a circuit court are reviewed under the deferential erroneous exercise of discretion standard. Allen, \P 9.

A defendant may withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing upon a showing of "manifest injustice" by clear and convincing evidence. *State v. Rock*, 92 Wis. 2d 554, 558-59, 285 N.W.2d 739 (1979). *Rock* recognized that the "manifest injustice" requirement is met if the defendant was denied the effective assistance of counsel. *Id*.

To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show (1) that his counsel's performance was deficient and (2) that such performance prejudiced his defense. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). To prove deficient performance, a defendant must show that counsel's conduct fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Id. at 687–88. То establish prejudice, a defendant must show that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different. Id. at 694. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. Id. Prejudice in the context of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim "should be assessed based on the cumulative effect of counsel's deficiencies." State v. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 59, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305.

The Sixth Amendment demands effective assistance of counsel during the pretrial and plea bargaining process. *Missouri v. Frye*, 132 S.Ct. 1399, 1407 (2012). When a defendant enters his plea upon the advice of counsel, the "deficient performance" requirement of *Strickland* is satisfied if he shows that the advice he relied on in entering his guilty plea was not within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985); *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 312. To satisfy the prejudice requirement of *Strickland* in the context of a case that resulted in a plea, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unreasonable advice, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. *Hill*, 474 U.S. at 59; *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 312. A defendant must allege sufficient facts that would allow a reviewing court to meaningfully assess a claim of prejudice beyond a conclusory allegation of misinformation by defense counsel. *Id.* at 318.

B. Carlson's attorney was deficient for advising him that probation was a realistic possibility.

The Circuit Court ruled that Carlson's attorney was not deficient in advising him that probation was realistic (87:19-20). The Court stated that Carlson had "strong ammunition" at sentencing by his acceptance of responsibility, and the fact that he had stopped the assaults for a long period of time (87:19). But while the Court correctly identified the positive aspects of Carlson's case, this does not mean that probation was a realistic possibility, given the seriousness of the allegations.

In his postconviction motion, Carlson offered evidence that his attorney believed that if he pled guilty, there was a realistic possibility that he could receive probation² (63:4-7). On November 2, 2011, Carlson's attorney wrote to the prosecutor, "I am hopeful that we are able to structure plea discussions within the parameters of a community-based sentence." (62:5). And on January 27, 2012, Carlson's attorney wrote a letter to AJK, stating that he was trying to resolve the case in a way that would lead to probation, and possibly a jail sentence, but which would avoid a prison sentence (62:5). His letter stated, "My only consistent goal for Mr. Carlson has been to keep him out of the Wisconsin State Prison system." (62:5).

Similarly, counsel's advice to Carlson continued to convey the idea that probation was a realistic possibility upon pleading guilty (62:4-7).

Counsel should have known that probation was not a realistic goal for several reasons. First, the prosecutor had flatly rejected the possibility of probation in discussions with counsel. Second, the charges were serious; according to the complaints, Carlson sexually assaulted AKJ twice a week for five years, amounting to hundreds of assaults. Finally, according to objective information, similarly situated offenders rarely, if ever are sentenced to probation. Each of these is addressed below:

² Since this case concerns whether Carlson alleged sufficient facts to entitle him to an evidentiary hearing, the entire postconviction motion (with exhibits) is attached as Appendix D. *See State v. Nielsen*, 2011 WI 94, 337 Wis. 2d 302, 805 N.W.2d 353.

1. The prosecutor had flatly rejected the possibility of probation in discussions with counsel.

Carlson alleged in his motion that his attorney advised him that a community-based sentence was a realistic possibility, despite communications with prosecutors that should have alerted counsel that such a sentence was extremely unlikely (62:4-7).

From the moment he agreed to represent Carlson, counsel attempted to negotiate a plea deal for a community-based sentence (62:4). However, the prosecutors consistently rejected these proposals (62:4). On February 13, 2012, DA Adam Gerol wrote to counsel, stating that "I think this is a prison case, and candidly not even a token one." (62:6). When counsel inquired what the State's final offer would be. DA Gerol responded, "I think most people would rank a repeat child sexual assault up there with OWI homicide in terms of crime severity," and further stated that "I would recommend a 30 year prison sentence, with 15 years' incarceration and 15 years extended supervision." (62:6). That same day, ADA Stephanie Hanson wrote to defense counsel, emphasizing her with agreement DA Gerol's recommendation, saying that, "based upon the repeated and long-term nature of the sexual relationship your client had with the victim in this matter, punishment is the primary factor" (62:6-7).

The unwillingness of the State to offer probation, along with its recommendation for such a long prison term would have alerted a reasonable attorney that a court would almost certainly sentence Carlson to at least some prison time.

2. The charges were serious, alleging hundreds of assaults.

In his postconviction motion, Carlson alleged that his attorney was deficient in failing to advise him that he could be blamed for hundreds of sexual assaults, making it even more unlikely that he might receive a community-based sentence if he pled. This should have been apparent to Carlson's attorney because the criminal complaint alleged that Carlson had sexually assaulted AJK "at least twice a week," beginning when AJK was in fifth grade and ending in ninth grade (1:2).

The postconviction motion alleged that counsel admitted that he was unaware of the potential number of assaults based on the allegations in the complaints and stated that had he known that the number could be as high as 300 to 400 times, he would not have advised Carlson to plead guilty (62:10-11). A reasonably competent attorney would realize that a defendant who could be blamed for that many sexual assaults is extremely unlikely to receive a community-based sentence.

3. Objective sources of sentencing data.

The postconviction motion set forth objective sources of sentencing data showing the unlikelihood of a community-based sentence. The motion first noted that attorneys who rely on limited personal memory of analogous cases and familiarity with a prosecutor or judge often can badly predict a sentencing outcome in a particular case (62:7). It is for this reason that tools have been developed which allow an attorney to analyze sentencing distributions for similarly situated defendants. The motion alleged that one such tool is CourtTracker, a sophisticated research tool that can allow an attorney to explore criminal case data in search of patterns (62:7).

According to the motion, CourtTracker reveals that in the ten years since Truth in Sentencing (TIS-II) was passed, 354 defendants have pled guilty to Repeated Sexual Assault of the Same Child (Wis. Stat. § 948.025). (62:7). See Table 1 below. Of those cases, 72%, or 255 defendants, were sentenced to prison (62:7-8). Of those 255 defendants, 79% (200 defendants) received over a five-year prison sentence (62:8). Nearly 45% (112 defendants) were sentenced to more than ten years' incarceration (62:8).

		Prison Terms	Prison Terms
	Number	as a	as a
Prison	of Prison	% of Total	% of Prison
Terms	Cases	Cases	Cases
12 to 36	22	6% (22/354)	9% (22/255)
months			
36 to 60	33	9% (33/354)	13% (33/255)
months			
60 to 120	88	25% (88/354)	35% (88/255)
months			
> 120	112	32% (112/354)	44% (112/255)
months			
Totals:	255	72%	100%

Table 1

Furthermore, the motion alleged that during the same period, nearly 50% of defendants who pled guilty to Second Degree Sexual Assault of a Child (Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2)) were sentenced to prison (62:8). See Table 2 below. Of the defendants sentenced to prison, 53 percent (456 defendants) received over a five-year sentence (62:8).

Prison Terms	Number of Prison Cases	Prison Term as a % of Total Cases	Prison Term as a % of Prison Cases
12 to 36 months	193	11% (193/1,809)	22% (193/860)
36 to 60 months	211	12% (211/1,809)	25% (211/860)
60 to 120 months	294	16% (294/1,809)	34% (294/860)
> 120 months	162	9% (162/1,809)	19% (162/860)
Totals:	860	48%	100%

Table	2
-------	---

In denying the postconviction motion, the Court commented on the above statistics, and used them to show that some individuals do receive probation (87:19). But that ignores the fact that Carlson was not charged with only Second Degree Sexual Assault of a Child, or only Repeated Sexual Assault of the Same Child. He was charged with *both* crimes. The motion alleged that in the past ten years, only five defendants pled guilty to both of these charges (62:8-9). See Table 3 below. None of these defendants avoided prison sentences (62:8-9). Rather, all five received prison sentences of at least six years' incarceration, followed by a long period of extended supervision (62:9):

Table 3

	Case			Extended
County	Number	Defendant	Prison	Supervision ³
Jefferson	07CF0066	Sean Manley	6 years	15 years
		Charles		
Marathon	07CF0108	Bailke	6 years	6 years
		Andrew		
Marathon	08CF0362	Nowak	6 years	6 years
			10	
Rock	07CF2967	Donald Drost	years	15 years
		Arthur	12	
Waushara	08CF0017	Schwersenska	years	18 years^4

If counsel had consulted objective sources of sentencing data such as CourtTracker, he would have found that that Carlson faced an extremely high likelihood of a prison sentence. Objective sources of sentencing data are not secret, but are available to defense attorneys.⁵ A reasonable defense attorney

³ Carlson's postconviction motion erroneously stated that this was probation, instead of extended supervision, according to CCAP.

⁴ The 18 years includes 8 years extended supervision plus 10 years consecutive probation, according to CCAP.

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