# RECEIVED

## 06-06-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL **OF WISCONSIN** 

#### DISTRICT II

Case No. 2013AP2559-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

V.

DAVID M. CARLSON,

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT.

APPEAL OF A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POST-CONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE SANDY A. WILLIAMS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

WARREN D. WEINSTEIN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1013263

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Carlson also points to his lack of a prior criminal record. Carlson's brief at 27. The court acknowledged that fact (74:75).

Carlson next points to the fact he stopped the assaults without law enforcement intervention and in spite of his continuing access to the victim. Carlson's brief at 27. But, as the court noted, Carlson continued his victimization by holding a note she wrote over her head "till the day [Carlson] got caught and arrested" (74:82).

Carlson points out the two offenses amounted to one course of action. Carlson's brief at 27. While this is true, that course of action spanned three to four years (74:77). And the assaultive behavior escalated over that time (74:78). Carlson began with touching (74:77-78). Then he moved to digital penetration; then having her touch him; then cunnilingus and fellatio (74:81; 1:1-2). Although the court did not mention it, the court was surely aware the behavior ultimately involved Carlson rubbing his penis on the victim's vagina without penetration (1:2).

Carlson points to his participation in sex offender treatment. Carlson's brief at 27-28. But he did not begin treatment until after his arrest. The court concluded he was fearful of "los[ing] everything" and so did not seek help because he "didn't want this to come out, people to know" (74:80-81).

Carlson points to the fact he scored low on sex offender re-offense actuarials. Carlson brief at 28. But as the court pointed out, the community concern and the deterrent aspect overrides his low probability to re-offend (74:83-84).

Carlson points to the lower recommendation of the PSI author. Carlson's brief at 28. The PSI author recommended an initial confinement of nine to ten years and term of extended supervision of three to four years on both crimes, to be served concurrently (35:18). Carlson characterizes the court's twenty-three year sentence as "significantly larger" than the PSI author's twelve to fourteenyear sentence. Carlson's brief at 28. But the court's extended supervision term of four years matched the PSI author's three to four-year recommendation on both counts (35:18). Likewise, the court's ten-year term of initial confinement on count two matched the PSI author's nine to tenyear recommendation on count two (35:18). The court's five-year initial confinement term on count

one halved the PSI author's nine to ten-year recommendation on count one (35:18). The principle difference between the court's sentence and the PSI author's recommendation comes down to the consecutive nature of the court's sentence compared to concurrent nature of the PSI author's nine to ten-year recommendation.

At bottom, the PSI author only recommends a sentence to the court. It is the court's responsibility, in the exercise of its discretion, to chose an appropriate sentence. *See State v. Ninham*, 2011 WI 33, ¶85, 333 Wis. 2d 335, 797 N.W.2d 451 ("[W]hat constitutes adequate punishment is ordinarily left to the discretion of the trial judge." (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)).

Carlson also points to his chart showing that his initial confinement is longer than other similar offenders. Carlson's brief at 28-29. There is no requirement that defendants convicted of committing similar crimes receive equal or similar sentences. On the contrary, individualized sentencing is a cornerstone to Wisconsin's system of indeterminate sentencing. State v. Lechner, 217 Wis. 2d 392, 427, 576 N.W.2d 912 (1998). "[N]o two convicted felons stand before the sentencing court on identical footing. The sentencing court must assess the crime, the criminal, and the community, and no two cases will present identical factors." Matter of Judicial Admin. Felony Sentencing Guidelines, 120 Wis. 2d 198, 201, 353 N.W.2d 793 (1984). Imposing a requirement of similar sentences would ignore the particular mitigating and aggravating factors in each case. Lechner. 217 Wis. 2d at 427.

Carlson also claims that the victim "did not think prison would help [him]. Instead, she wanted Carlson to continue with therapy." Carlson's brief at 29. Carlson's argument presents a selective and disingenuous reading of the victim's comments to the PSI writer. Without setting forth the detail of the victim's interview, it is fair to say the victim had conflicting feelings about the ultimate outcome. On the one hand she felt prison was appropriate for the damage Carlson had done to her and addressed her concerns for the effect his continued presence in the family home would have on her siblings. On the other hand, she did not have much faith in the prison system to affect any positive change on Carlson's negative behavior or character; a sentiment she also expressed about treatment (35:6-7).

Carlson's "compelling factors" ultimately amount to no more than an invitation for this Court to substitute its weighing of the sentencing factors for the circuit court's. To obtain resentencing Carlson "must establish, under the 'clear and convincing' burden of proof, that it is 'highly probable or reasonably certain' that the circuit court relied on an irrelevant or improper factor." *State v. Betters*, 2013 WI App 85, ¶7, 349 Wis. 2d 428, 835 N.W.2d 249 (quoting *State v. Harris*, 2010 WI 79, ¶¶34-35, 326 Wis. 2d 685, 786 N.W.2d 409). The record in this case does not established an erroneous exercise of discretion.

## B. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S SEN-TENCE IS NOT UNDULY HARSH OR UNCONSCIONA-BLE.

A court may modify a sentence if it concludes the original sentence was "unduly harsh or unconscionable" *State v. Grindemann*, 2002 WI App 106, ¶21, 255 Wis. 2d 632, 648 N.W.2d 507 (quoting Cresci v. State, 89 Wis. 2d 495, 504, 278 N.W.2d 850 (1979). A sentence is unduly harsh if it is so excessive, unusual and so disproportionate to the offenses committed that it shocks public sentiment and violates the judgment of reasonable people as to what is right and proper under the circumstances. Grindemann, 255 Wis. 2d 632, ¶31; Ocanas v. State, 70 Wis. 2d 179, 185, 233 N.W.2d 457 (1975). This court reviews a circuit court's conclusion that a sentence it imposed was not unduly harsh or unconscionable for an erroneous exercise of discretion. Grindemann, 255 Wis. 2d 632, ¶30; State v. Ralph, 156 Wis. 2d 433, 438-39, 456 N.W.2d 657 (Ct. App. 1990).

Carlson plead to two Class C felonies. At the time of his offenses, Class C felonies carried a maximum forty-year sentence (30). Wis. Stat. § 939.50(3)(c) (2003-04). So Carlson's maximum exposure on the two crime totaled eighty years. The circuit court sentenced Carlson to consecutive sentences of fifteen years and nine years, a total of twenty-three years. This is just over one-fourth of his total maximum exposure.

The sentencing statutes impose a limitation on the length of initial confinement. For a Class C felony in 2003-04, the maximum initial confinement was twenty-five years. Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(b)3 (2003-04). So the maximum length of exposure Carlson faced on initial confinement was fifty years. The court's fifteen-year initial confinement represented thirty per cent of his maximum exposure on initial confinement.

"A sentence well within the limits of the maximum sentence is not so disproportionate to the offense committed as to shock the public sentiment and violate the judgment of reasonable people concerning what is right and proper under the circumstances" *State v. Daniels*, 117 Wis. 2d 9, 22, 343 N.W.2d 411 (Ct. App. 1983); *see also Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶74 (citing *Daniels*). That is especially true here, given Carlson's lengthy and extensive sexual abuse of the victim.

## II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT SENTENCE CARLSON BASED ON INACCURATE INFORMATION.

Carlson argues he is entitled to resentencing because he sentenced was on inaccurate information. To establish this claim, Carlson must establish two things: that some of the information presented at his sentencing was inaccurate, and that the sentencing court actually relied on that inaccurate information in reaching its determination in regard to the sentence imposed. State v. Tiepelman, 2006 WI 66, ¶28, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1.

## A. CARLSON DID NOT ESTAB-LISH THE COURT'S ASSAULT CALCULATION TO BE INAC-CURATE.

Carlson claims that the circuit court relied on inaccurate information at his sentencing: that he assaulted the victim 300-400 times. The court did state during sentencing "You abused her more than 300 times, anywhere from 300 to 400 times" (74:77).

Carlson argues, both in conjunction with this direct claim and with his tie-in claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, that he only admitted to five or six assaults. Carlson's brief at 19. He also claims that evidence existed to demonstrate the inaccuracy of the court's statement. Carlson's brief at 20-21.

Carlson fails to establish the circuit court's calculation of "more than 300" sexual assaults to be inaccurate. The court arrived at the figure of 300 by taking the victim's statements that the assaults occurred regularly twice a week, during the time from when she was in fourth grade until she was in ninth grade (1:2; 30:2). The time frame for the assaults began in spring 2000 (30:2) and continued until January 15, 2004 (1:1). There were thirty-five weeks from May 1, 2000 to December 31, 2000. Add fifty-two weeks for the years 2001, 2002, 2003 and two weeks for January 1, 2004 to January 15, 2004. The total number of weeks in the charging period is 193. So according to the victims testimony, the total number of assaults could be at least 386. The court discounted the total to three years and subtracted two weeks (74:77) Thus according to the court's calculation, 308 assault occurred.<sup>2</sup> The court gave Carlson the benefit of some doubt because it believed the assaults actually occurred over four years as the two criminal complaints alleged (74:77).

Carlson's brief relies on four primary sources of "evidence" which he claims refute the court's calculation of "more than 300 times" (74:77). While his evidence could lead the court to conclude that Carlson assaulted the victim less than the 308 the court calculated, it does not establish, by clear and convincing evidence, the court's calculation to be erroneous. Three of Carl-

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  52 weeks x 3 years = 156 - 2 = 154 weeks x 2 as saults = 308 as saults.

son's four sources rely on the presence of the victim's mother. But the criminal complaint recites that the assaults occurred in the basement family room (1:2), at nighttime (1:2), and "when every one [sic] else in the house was sleeping" (30:3). Thus the victims mother's general presence at "home all day, on maternity leave" or working "only three days a week" would not have precluded the basement, nighttime assaults. Carlson's brief at 20.

More importantly, each time Carlson assaulted the victim in a different way or separated by some small amount of time, constituted a separate assault. The twice a week to which the court referred constituted a period of time over which the assaults occurred. Carlson completely ignores the fact that on one night if he touched the victim, the victim touched him, he performed cunnilingus and she performed fellatio, that activity comprised not one but four assaults.

While there was no evidentiary hearing and thus no actual factual determination, there certainly was a factual basis for the circuit court's attribution of "over 300" assaults. Carlson bears the burden of demonstrating by clear and convincing evidence that the "300 times" amounted to inaccurate information. *Tiepelman*, 291 Wis. 2d 179, ¶19. Even taking his evidence as true, that the assaults could have happened only on 685 days, or approximately 98 weeks,<sup>3</sup> that still equates to 196 periods when multiple assaults may have (and probably did) occur. His evidence is not clear or convincing that he assaulted the victim less than 300 times.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> 1385-700 = 685/7 = 97.88 weeks.

## B. CARLSON ESTABLISHED THE COURT ACTUALLY RELIED ON THE INFORMATION.

The court did state that it believed Carlson assaulted the victim "more than 300 times, anywhere from 300 to 400 times" (74:77). The sentencing transcript also makes clear that "the sentencing court specifically considered" the "more than 300 times" in its decision. *Tiepelman*, 291 Wis. 2d 179, ¶29. The court's consideration establishes actual reliance.

## C. ANY ERROR THE CIRCUIT COURT MADE BY REFER-ENCE TO "MORE THAN 300" ASSAULTS WAS HARMLESS.

Even if Carlson established both inaccurate information at sentencing and the circuit court actually relied on the information, that error must be analyzed for whether in was harmless. *Tiepelman*, 291 Wis. 2d 179,  $\P$ 26.

An error is harmless when it is clear "bevond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967); State v. Harvey, 2002 WI 93, ¶44, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189; State v. Eison, 2011 WI App 52, ¶11, 332 Wis. 2d 331, 797 N.W.2d 890. For constitutional errors at sentencing, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that there is no reasonable probability that the error contributed to the defendant's sentence. State v. Lindsev. 203 Wis. 2d 423, 448, 554 N.W.2d 215 (Ct. App. 1996). In order to find a court's reliance on inaccurate information harmless, the reviewing court must be "confident" that the inaccuracy did not "contribute to" the sentence the defendant received. *State v. Anderson*, 222 Wis. 2d 403, 411, 588 N.W.2d 75 (Ct. App. 1998).

The context of the court's statement is important here. The court was merely estimating the magnitude of Carlson's repeated assaultive conduct over an extended period of time. The court first recited the length of the contact (74:77). Then it estimated, based on its calculation from the victim's perspective, the extent of the assaultive conduct (74:76-77). The number 300 merely illustrated the extent to which Carlson subjected the victim to his advances. It was the length of the period over which the assaults took place, the frequency and regularity of the repeated contacts rather than the actual number of assaults upon which the court based its sentence (74:76-77).

Three hundred eight assaults is indistinguishable from the 196 assaults Carlson's "evidence" postulates or even a "mere" 98 assaults (only one per period). The sentence he received did not depend on the circuit court's exact (or inexact) calculation. The point was that Carlson had subjected the victim to a high number of assaults which compelled the court's rejection of probation, opting instead for a long period of initial confinement.

## D. CARLSON'S TRIAL ATTORNEY DID NOT PERFORM DEFI-CIENTLY AT SENTENCING.

Carlson includes a tie-in claim that his attorney performed deficiently by not objecting to or offering rebuttal evidence when the circuit court made its calculation of "more than 300" sexual assaults. Carlson's brief at 18-26. To establish attorney Mastantuono provided ineffective assistance of counsel, Carlson must demonstrate both that trial counsel's performance was deficient and that this performance prejudiced his defense. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984); *State v. Ziebart*, 2003 WI App 258, ¶15, 268 Wis. 2d 468, 673 N.W.2d 369.

As noted above, the sentencing court did not rely on "inaccurate" information when it used the victim's statement contained in criminal complaint in its estimate of the magnitude of Carlson's offenses. Failing to raise an argument that does not have merit does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. *See State v. Harvey*, 139 Wis. 2d 353, 380, 407 N.W.2d 235 (1987).

In addition, since the court's calculation was harmless error, Carlson cannot demonstrate prejudice. The essential difference between a "reasonable probability that the error contributed to the defendant's sentence," Lindsey, 203 Wis. 2d at 448, and Strickland prejudice, "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different," State v. Domke, 2011 WI 95, ¶54, 337 Wis. 2d 268, 805 N.W.2d 364; Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, is that the State has the burden to establish harmless error while Carlson has the burden to establish prejudice. Compare In re Commitment of Jones, 2013 WI App 151, ¶14, 352 Wis. 2d 87, 841 N.W.2d 306, with Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. Since the error here was harmless, Carlson cannot demonstrate prejudice.

## III. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING CARLSON'S POST-CONVICTION MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS PLEA AF-TER SENTENCING.

Carlson argues the circuit court erred when it denied without a hearing, his post-conviction motion seeking to withdraw his guilty pleas based on his trial attorney's advice to plead guilty. He claims his motion plead sufficient facts which, if true, entitled him to relief. He requests this Court vacate the order and remand for an evidentiary hearing.

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